IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA
No. DA 25-0602

PLANNED PARENTHOOD OF MONTANA; ALL FAMILIES
HEALTHCARE; BLUE MOUNTAIN CLINIC; SAMUEL DICKMAN,
M.D., and HELEN WEEMS, APRN-FNP, on behalf of themselves and
their patients,

Plaintiffs and Appellees/Cross-Appellants,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA; MONTANA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC
HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES; and CHARLIE BRERETON, in
his official capacity as Director of the Department of Public Health
and Human Services,

Defendants and Appellants/Cross-Appellees.

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana First Judicial District Court
Lewis and Clark County Cause No. ADV-2023-299
The Honorable Mike Menahan, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Does the Montana Constitution’s right to privacy confer a funding entitlement because the State participates in a federal medical financial assistance program?

2. Does the Montana Constitution’s right to abortion confer a funding entitlement because the State participates in a federal medical financial assistance program?

3. Can a constitutional entitlement to abortion funding turn on the federal Medicaid program?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Planned Parenthood of Montana, All Families Healthcare, Blue Mountain Clinic, Samuel Dickman, M.D., and Helen Weems, APRN-FNP, (collectively, “Abortionists”) challenge two laws and an administrative rule under the theory that those legal provisions violate Medicaid patients’ rights to privacy, equal protection, individual dignity, and seeking health under the Montana Constitution. They also allege the administrative rule violates the Governmental Code of Fair Practices.

House Bill 544 (2023) (“HB 544”), House Bill 862 (2023) (“HB 862”), and the Department of Health and Human Services (“DPHHS”)

administrative rule preserve the integrity of the Montana Medicaid Program by preventing fraud, ensuring compliance with federal and state law, and establishing appropriate clinical health and safety requirements to protect Medicaid beneficiaries. These legal provisions, an exercise of the State’s police power, do not implicate fundamental rights, and certainly do not contravene the Montana Constitution.

Abortionists filed their original Complaint back in spring of 2023, challenging DPHHS’s administrative rule. (Doc. 1.) They simultaneously applied for a Temporary Restraining Order (“TRO”), Preliminary Injunction, and Writ of Prohibition. (Docs. 9.5, 10.) Appellants State of Montana, DPHHS, and Charlie Brereton, in his official capacity as Director of DPHHS (collectively, “the State”) responded with oppositional briefing. (Doc. 13.) The State also moved to substitute the assigned judge. (Doc. 12.) Judge Menahan assumed jurisdiction and granted the TRO the same day. (Docs. 14, 15.) The State later responded in opposition to the Motion for Preliminary Injunction and Writ of Prohibition. (Doc. 23.)

Abortionists next amended their Complaint to include challenges to the recently enacted HB 544 and HB 862. (Doc. 44.) They also filed a new Application for a Preliminary Injunction. (Docs. 45; 46.) The district court

held a combined preliminary injunction hearing on all the challenged legal provisions. Before the hearing, the parties stipulated that each party and the court could rely on testimony presented for either case in the cases' litigation. (Doc. 50.)

At the hearing, the district court heard the statements and arguments of counsel, as well as testimony from six witnesses. Upon conclusion of the four-hour hearing, the district court orally enjoined the legal provisions from the bench. (Doc. 63.) The State appealed the district court's issuance of the preliminary injunction the next day.

The State filed its answer while its preliminary injunction appeal was pending. (Doc. 58.) Soon after, the district court issued its written order on the injunction. (Doc. 62.)

This Court eventually ruled on the State's appeal, affirming the preliminary injunction. *Planned Parenthood of Montana v. State*, 2024 MT 228, ¶ 42, 418 Mont. 253, 557 P.3d 440. Abortionists immediately moved for summary judgment. (Docs. 81; 82.) Under the district court's scheduling order, the State then also moved for summary judgment. (Docs. 91; 92.) The district court denied the State's motion but granted Abortionists' motion, finding the State "failed to meet its burden"

proving the legal provisions survive under strict scrutiny review on both the privacy and equal protection claims. (Doc. 101 at 13; 16.)

The State timely filed its appeal, asking this Court to reverse the district court's summary judgment order and final judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Abortions under Medicaid, generally.

Medicaid is a joint state and federal medical assistance program. 42 U.S.C. § 1396-1. States voluntarily participate in Medicaid. *Bailey v. DPHHS*, 2015 MT 37, ¶ 8, 378 Mont. 162, 343 P.3d 170. The purpose of the Medicaid Program is for the federal government to provide federal financial reimbursement to states that choose to cover certain medical expenses of indigent individuals. 42 U.S.C. § 1396-1. When a state opts into Medicaid, it must comply with federal law under Title XIX.

Under Title XIX, states participating in Medicaid must cover the costs of a plethora of “medical assistance” services and treatments. *See generally* 42 U.S.C. §§ 1396d(a)(1)–(32). Included are “services furnished by a nurse-midwife (as defined in section 1395x(gg) of this title)” and “freestanding birth center services (as defined in subsection (l)(3)(A)).”

42 U.S.C. §§ 1396(a)(17); (28). Abortion is absent from “medical assistance” services and treatments.

Since 1976, the U.S. Congress has annually enacted—through either amendment or joint resolution—the Hyde Amendment. It provides: “None of the funds appropriated in this Act, and none of the funds in any trust fund to which funds are appropriated in this Act, shall be expended for any abortion.” Further Consolidated Appropriations Act, Pub. L. No. 118-47, § 506, 138 Stat. 662, 703 (2024). That said,

[S]ection [506] shall not apply to an abortion (1) if the pregnancy is the result of an act of rape or incest; or (2) in the case where a woman suffers from a physical disorder, physical injury, or physical illness, including a life-endangering physical condition caused by or arising from the pregnancy itself, that would, as certified by a physician, place the woman in danger of death unless an abortion is performed.

Pub. L. No. 118-47, § 507. States cannot reimburse non-exempted, also called elective, abortions via Medicaid. Congress reinforced the Hyde Amendment this year by also prohibiting Medicaid reimbursements for one year to any nonprofit provider of abortions for reasons other than rape, incest, or threats to the mother’s life that received over \$800,000 in federal funds in 2023. One Big Beautiful Act, Pub. L. No. 119-21, § 71113,

139 Stat. 72, 300 (2025).¹ This prohibition also applies to affiliates and subsidiaries. *Id.*

II. Montana’s law for Medicaid-funded abortions.

DPHHS administers Montana’s Medicaid program. Mont. Code Ann. § 53-6-101(1). Since the *Jeannette R.* decision, Montana has funded abortions that are “medically necessary.” *See Jeanette R. v. Ellery*, No. BDV-94-811, 1995 Mont. Dist. Lexis 795, *4, *29, 1995 WL 17959705 (Mont. Dist. May 19, 1995). But even under *Jeannette R.*, the State does not have to fund elective abortions. *Id.* (“[T]his case has nothing to do with indigent women who may seek an elective abortion”; “Not at issue are nontherapeutic elective abortions. In other words, this case has nothing to do with abortions that are not medically necessary, as that determination is made by a physician”; and “It is clear that the state need not fund nontherapeutic elective abortions.”).

In 2021, the Montana Legislature directed DPHHS to review and report on the history, utilization data, policies, rules, and definitions

¹ The United States Court of Appeals for the First Circuit reversed the lower court’s order enjoining that provision, making it effective again. *See Planned Parenthood Federation of Am., Inc., v. Robert F. Kennedy, Jr.*, No. 25-1698 (1st Cir., Sep. 11, 2025).

applicable to Medicaid-reimbursed abortions. (Doc. 24, ¶ 11.) In its subsequent report, DPHHS discovered the State automatically paid out Medicaid funds for abortions so long as the claim contained a completed MA-37 form. (*Id.* ¶ 13.) The physician providing an abortion must complete a MA-37 form so Medicaid pays for the abortion. (*Id.* ¶¶ 6-7.) The form requires the physician to identify the reason for the abortion. (*Id.*) Through a third-party contractor, DPHHS reviewed all Medicaid-reimbursed abortions from July 2011 through June 2021, where Medicaid reimbursed six abortions, and 10% of state-funded, medically necessary abortions from July 2019 to June 2021, where the State funded 221 abortions. (*Id.* ¶ 15.) For medically necessary abortions, the most common conditions supporting medical necessity were: (1) pain and suffering; (2) complications from unintended pregnancy; (3) emotional stability; and (4) mental and physical health. (*Id.* ¶ 19.) Based on this review, DPHHS concluded the MA-37 forms insufficiently verify medical necessity. (*Id.* ¶ 16.) DPHHS also reasonably concluded Medicaid covered elective, nontherapeutic abortions that, through unspecified supporting MA-37 forms, were considered medically necessary. (*Id.* ¶¶ 21-22.)

III. The Legal Provisions.

Beginning in late 2022, DPHHS proposed a Medicaid coverage rule, which the agency finalized in April 2023. The rule amends provisions of Mont. Admin. R. 37.82.102 and 37.86.104 to: (1) clarify the circumstances under which abortion is medically necessary and therefore eligible for Medicaid coverage; (2) require prior authorization (with certain exceptions for when prior authorization cannot be obtained) for Medicaid-covered abortions; (3) implement documentation requirements supporting medical necessity; and (4) require that Medicaid-covered abortions be performed by a physician. The purposes of these requirements are to ensure that (1) Medicaid only pays for medically necessary (not elective, nontherapeutic) abortions, consistent with Mont. Code Ann. § 53-6-101(9) (services provided under this part may be only those that are medically necessary), and (2) that Medicaid-reimbursed abortions meet appropriate federal law requirements to ensure the health and safety of Medicaid beneficiaries.

During the 2023 session, the Legislature passed, and the Governor signed, two bills pertaining to state Medicaid funding of abortion—HB 544 and HB 862. HB 544 mandates requirements for Medicaid

coverage of abortion services, mirroring the Rule. “Physician” means “a person who holds a degree as a doctor of medicine or doctor of osteopathy and who has a valid license to practice medicine or osteopathic medicine in this state.” Mont. Code Ann. § 37-3-102(12).

HB 862 is the State’s analog to the Hyde Amendment. “Public funds or money may not be expended for an abortion.” HB 862, § 1. This limitation does not apply if the abortion is for cases of rape or incest, or where, as certified by a physician, the life of the mother is endangered without an abortion. HB 862, §§ 1(1)–(2); *see also* Pub. L. No. 118-47, § 507.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court reviews summary judgment orders de novo. *Albert v. City of Billings*, 2012 MT 159, ¶ 15, 365 Mont. 454, 282 P.3d 704. Summary judgment is proper only where “no genuine issue as to any material fact” exists and the movant “is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Mont. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(3). “When there are cross-motions for summary judgment, a district court must evaluate each party’s motion on its own merits.” *Kilby Butte Colony, Inc. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins.*, 2017 MT 246, ¶ 7, 389 Mont. 48, 403 P.3d 664. Under de novo review, the Court must

determine whether: (1) the district court’s conclusions of law are correct; and (2) its findings of fact are not clearly erroneous. *Pilgeram v. GreenPoint Mortg. Funding, Inc.*, 2013 MT 354, ¶ 9, 373 Mont. 1, 313 P.3d 839 (internal citations omitted).

The Court “prima facie presume[s]” the constitutionality of legislative enactments. *Powder River Cnty. v. State*, 2002 MT 259, ¶ 73, 312 Mont. 198, 60 P.3d 357. “Statutes are presumed to be constitutional, and it is the duty of this Court to avoid an unconstitutional interpretation if possible.” *Hernandez v. Bd. of Cnty. Comm’rs*, 2008 MT 251, ¶ 15, 345 Mont. 1, 189 P.3d 638. Thus, “[e]very presumption must be indulged in favor of the constitutionality of the legislative act.” *Powder River Cnty.*, ¶ 74. This Court’s inquiry then is not whether it is possible to condemn, but whether it is possible to uphold the law unless it conflicts with the Constitution beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* (quoting *State v. Lilburn*, 265 Mont. 258, 262, 875 P.2d 1036, 1039 (1994), *cert. denied*, 513 U.S. 1078 (1995)).

The Court’s “review of constitutional questions is plenary.” *William v. Bd. of Cnty. Comm’rs*, 2013 MT 243, ¶ 23, 371 Mont. 356, 308 P.3d 88 (internal citations omitted). The party challenging a statute thus bears

the burden of proving that it is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable doubt and, if any doubt exists, the Court must uphold the statute. *Grooms v. Ponderosa Inn*, 283 Mont. 459, 467, 942 P.2d 699, 703 (1997); *Heisler v. Hines Motor Co.*, 282 Mont. 270, 279, 937 P.2d 45, 50 (1997).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case is not about the State creating barriers for a woman to obtain an abortion. It is about the Legislature properly exercising its authority to choose what it will and will not fund. In this context, the legal provisions ensure the State is properly reimbursed by the federal government. To hold that those fiscal decisions violate the right to privacy, abortion, or equal protection would impermissibly transform those rights from negative to positive rights and unconstitutionally encroach on the Legislature's power of the purse.

“The legislature can pass its own Hyde amendment if it wishes.” *Jeannette R.*, 1995 Mont. Dist. LEXIS 795, at *17, 1995 WL 17959705. That is exactly what the Legislature did with the legal provisions challenged here. Yet Abortionists now claim this somehow violates the Montana Constitution.

Montanans recently enshrined in their Constitution the right to abortion. Mont. Const. art. II, § 36(1). “This right shall not be denied or burdened[.]” *Id.* This creates a straightforward command: Montanans are free from burdensome governmental abortion regulation. This is a negative right. The government cannot impermissibly interfere with the same. But absent from this constitutional guarantee is a positive right for abortion funding. “[P]rovisions that directly implicate rights guaranteed to individuals under our Constitution are in a category of their own.” *Columbia Falls Elementary Sch. Dist. No. 6 v. State*, 2005 MT 69, ¶ 18, 326 Mont. 304, 109 P.3d 257. There is then no affirmative obligation within the Montana Constitution that Montana must pay for an abortion.

There is no dispute that this case is about funding. As the district court concluded, “There is no greater power than the power of the purse ... Once the state furnishes medical care to poor women in general,” it cannot deny funds for an abortion. (Doc. 101 at 17) (quoting *Committee to Def. Women’s Reprod. Rights v. Myers*, 625 P.2d 779 (Cal. 1981)). The practical effect of the district court’s judgment is the State of Montana

will have to take money out of the hands of some Montanans to pay for abortions for others. That is funding.

The district court thus erred when it concluded that Montana’s right to privacy requires the State fund abortions. The right to privacy prohibits government interference—it does not mandate that the government facilitate the right. The State does not deprive indigent individuals of their rights simply because the State does not proffer funds “necessary to realize all the advantages of that freedom.” *Harris v. McRae*, 448 U.S. 297, 318 (1980).

The district court’s equal protection analysis was also erroneous. The two proffered classes—women seeking an abortion and women seeking to carry their pregnancy to term—are not similarly situated. Each woman is making a different choice that has different consequences, requires different medical treatments, and ultimately imposes different financial costs on the State—one in which the State is required to pay for the procedure and one in which the State is reimbursed by the federal government.

So the legal provisions are subject to rational basis review, which they plainly survive, as they ensure the State’s Medicaid program

maintains financial integrity and follows federal law for reimbursement purposes.

ARGUMENT

I. The Montana Constitution does not create an abortion funding entitlement.

The district court incorrectly concluded that the Montana Constitution requires the State to fund abortions because it participates in Medicaid. This conclusion is not only atextual, but it also strikes at the heart of the constitutional separation of powers. Courts cannot simply conjure constitutional entitlements not included in the text. Yet that is what the district court did here. This Court should correct that erroneous conclusion of law.

The State, Abortionists, and the district court seem to agree on one point: if the State chooses not to participate in Medicaid, then it does not have to pay for any abortion. (Docs. 101 at 6; 92 at 6–7.) The State does not burden a woman’s access to abortion because she cannot afford it. But this reveals the flaw in Abortionists’ and the district court’s conclusion— if the State does not infringe on an indigent woman’s access to abortion by not participating in Medicaid, how does it when the State participates in Medicaid?

The answer is the State cannot infringe on an indigent woman’s access to abortion, whether by not participating in Medicaid or by not otherwise funding that abortion. That is because the legal provisions do not impede or infringe on a woman’s access to abortion. Indeed, regardless of Medicaid eligibility, Montanan women can access abortions all the same. Also, the Montana Constitution does not create an affirmative obligation, under either the right to privacy (Article II, Section 10) or the right to abortion (Article II, Section 36), for the State to pay for abortions. Additionally, because the Abortionists’ two proffered classes—women seeking an abortion and women seeking to carry their pregnancy to term—are not similarly situated, Abortionists’ equal protection claim must also fail. The legal provisions are subject to rational basis review, which they survive.

A. Separation of powers protects the Legislature’s funding decisions.

At the heart of this case is funding. “The State is correct that the Legislature need not subsidize any of the costs associated with childbearing or with health care generally.” (Doc. 101 at 6.) Under its Article V, Section 1 power, the Legislature, however, determined the State will participate in Medicaid. Mont. Code Ann. § 53-6-101(1). For its

participation in Medicaid, the federal government reimburses Montana matching funds for the cost to the State to provide indigent citizens health services. 42 U.S.C. § 1396-1. To receive the federal reimbursement, Montana must enact a state plan that meets certain minimum standards. 42 U.S.C. §§ 1396–1396b. If Montana chooses to provide health services beyond what the federal government reimburses, the State must cover those expenses. *See Harris*, 448 U.S. at 311 n.16. The Hyde Amendment specifically limits federal reimbursement for abortions. Generally, Medicaid does not reimburse “medically necessary” abortions—except those abortions when the pregnancy results from rape or incest or places the woman in danger of death. And Medicaid does not reimburse nontherapeutic, elective abortions. Pub. L. No. 118-47, § 507.

Montana’s decision to participate in Medicaid was a coordinated effort by the legislative and executive branches. No law requires the State to participate. Those policy decisions are protected by the separation of powers. *Kradolfer v. Smith*, 246 Mont. 210, 213, 805 P.2d 1266, 1268 (1990) (“A fundamental principle of our system of government is the separation of powers of the three branches of government. Each branch is independent and co-equal and is immune from the control of the other

two branches of government in the absence of express constitutional authority to the contrary.”) (citing *State ex rel. Morales v. City Comm’n of Helena*, 174 Mont. 237, 240, 570 P.2d 887, 889 (1977)).

According to the district court’s order, Montana courts have the power to police what the Legislature funds and how. That incursion into the legislative power is what the American founders warned of: “The accumulation of all powers, legislative, executive, and judicial, in the same hands ... may justly be pronounced the very definition of tyranny.” Federalist No. 47, at 300 (James Madison) (Clinton Rossiter ed., 1961).

* * * *

The district court erroneously created from whole cloth a concomitant duty for the State to fund an abortion just because an indigent woman seeks an abortion. There is no basis in law for that. Never before has a Montana court recognized that, coupled within the right to receive an abortion, there is also a constitutional obligation for the State to fund that choice.

With Article II, Section 36, Montanan women have the right to obtain an abortion. But neither that provision nor the rights to privacy or equal protection create an affirmative obligation for the State to fund

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