**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA**  
**No. DA 25-0602**

---

PLANNED PARENTHOOD OF MONTANA; ALL FAMILIES HEALTHCARE;  
BLUE MOUNTAIN CLINIC; SAMUEL DICKMAN, M.D.; and HELEN WEEMS,  
APRN-FNP, on behalf of themselves and their patients,

*Plaintiffs, Appellees, and Cross-Appellants;*

v.

STATE OF MONTANA; MONTANA DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC HEALTH  
AND HUMAN SERVICES; and CHARLIE BRERETON, in his official capacity as  
Director of the Department of Public Health and Human Services,

*Defendants, Appellants, and Cross-Appellees.*

---

On appeal from the Montana First Judicial district court, Lewis and Clark County  
Cause No. ADV 23–299, the Honorable Mike Menahan, Presiding

---

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

The State invokes the presumption of constitutionality. Courts “begin” their review with this principle, *PPMT V*, ¶ 21 (quoting *Weems II*, ¶ 34), as the district court did here, App.A06. But that presumption does not insulate the Restrictions from judicial review. “[T]he analysis of a statute pertaining to fundamental rights will generally require a strict scrutiny review that ultimately shifts the burden.” *PPMT V*, ¶¶ 21 (plurality opinion), 56 (Baker, J., specially concurring).

The undisputed record establishes that the Restrictions impose significant barriers for Medicaid patients seeking abortions, forcing them to pay for an abortion out of pocket, delay care, or forgo care altogether. Supp.App.F05, 07, 09–10, 12, 13 (SUMF ¶¶ 11–12, 21, 32, 36–41, 51, 54). The State did not contest these facts at the district court, and it does not do so before this Court. Accordingly, the district court correctly held that strict scrutiny review applies to Providers’ privacy claim, consistent with *PPMT V*’s determination that strict scrutiny review applies because “otherwise eligible [Medicaid] recipients would be disqualified or otherwise restricted from certain public healthcare benefits based on their exercise of their fundamental right to privacy as guaranteed under the Montana Constitution.” *PPMT V*, ¶¶ 23 (plurality opinion), 56 (Baker, J., specially concurring).

*PPMT V* also expressly rejected the State’s argument that the Restrictions are “simple funding issues” that do not implicate the right to privacy. *Id.* ¶ 22. The Court noted that the APC ban in the Rule and HB 544 contravenes this Court’s recent

reaffirmation that “the judgment of who is qualified to provide an abortion is the medical community’s, not the Legislature’s, to make”; the prior authorization process “both impose[s] a delay in the time-sensitive procedure and require[s] a patient to make an in-person visit to a medical center when medication abortions have ‘safely been done via telehealth for years’”; and the narrowed, abortion-specific definition of “medically necessary” procedure “is untethered from both the definition applicable to every other medical service provided under Medicaid and from the medical judgment of a patient’s own doctor.” *Id.* HB 862 also “untether[s] the act of abortion from the medical judgment of the patient’s own doctor and violat[es] the personal autonomy guarantees of the Montana Constitution.” *Id.*

**B. Strict scrutiny review applies to Providers’ equal protection claim.**

The Montana Constitution mandates that “[n]o person shall be denied the equal protection of the laws.” Mont. Const. art. II, § 4. When weighing an equal protection challenge, this Court first “identif[ies] the classes involved and determine[s] whether they are similarly situated.” *Henry v. State Comp. Ins. Fund*, 1999 MT 126, ¶ 27, 294 Mont. 449, 982 P.2d 456. If a classification “affects a suspect class or threatens a fundamental right,” this Court applies strict scrutiny, under which a law may be upheld only if it is “narrowly tailored to serve a compelling State interest.” *McDermott v. Mont. Dep’t of Corrs.*, 2001 MT 134, ¶ 31, 305 Mont. 462, 29 P.3d 992. When a classification affects the fundamental right to

abortion, the law must be narrowly tailored to address a “medically-acknowledged, *bona fide* health risk.” *Armstrong*, ¶ 59.

The district court correctly applied strict scrutiny review because the undisputed record establishes that the Restrictions apply solely to Medicaid patients seeking abortions, and not to Medicaid patients seeking care related to continuing a pregnancy. Supp.App.F07, 09, 12 (SUMF ¶¶ 19, 33, 51). In the words of the *PPMT V* plurality, the State

has taken the class of indigent pregnant Medicaid eligible women and divided them. One class, who needs medically necessary treatment (an abortion) are not entitled to help from the state. However, another class (those women for whom child birth is a medically necessary treatment) are entitled to state financial help.

*PPMT V*, ¶ 31 (plurality opinion) (quoting *Jeannette R.*, 1995 Mont. Dist. LEXIS 795, at \*27); *see also id.* ¶ 32 (“[T]he State may not jeopardize the health and privacy of poor women by excluding medically necessary abortions from a system providing all other medically necessary care for the indigent.” (quoting *Right to Choose v. Byrne*, 450 A.2d 925, 937 (N.J. 1982))). Once the State creates a Medicaid program, it “must be neutral” and cannot exclude patients “from benefits to which they are otherwise entitled solely because they seek to exercise a constitutional right.” *Jeannette R.*, 1995 Mont. Dist. LEXIS 795, at \*25–27.

The State protests that these classes cannot be similarly situated because they “are making fundamentally different choices that have different consequences,

require different medical treatments, and ultimately impose different financial costs on the State.” Appellants’ Opening Br. at 35. The State misapprehends the nature of the equal protection analysis when a law discriminates based on the exercise of the fundamental right. The issue is not whether the classes are similarly situated in some abstract philosophical sense, but rather whether the classes are similarly situated *but for* their exercise of the fundamental right. *See PPMT VI*, ¶ 74 (in challenge to 20-week abortion ban, classes of “women exercising their right to a pre-viability abortion before and after 20 weeks’ gestational age . . . are similarly situated because both comprise pregnant women seeking the same reproductive health care before the fetus is viable”).

In other words, for an equal protection claim based on the exercise of a fundamental right, “the question is straightforward: has the government expressed a preference for the manner in which a right is exercised?” *Allegheny Reprod. Health Ctr. v. Pa. Dep’t of Hum. Servs.*, 309 A.3d 808, 943 (Pa. 2024). The answer here is clearly yes. Because the Restrictions apply solely if a Medicaid patient chooses to terminate their pregnancy, the relevant classes are Medicaid patients who choose to terminate their pregnancies and those who do not. *See id.* at 945 (“The Coverage Exclusion differentiates between pregnant women on Medical Assistance who would seek to obtain abortions and pregnant women on Medical Assistance who would seek to carry their pregnancies to term. . . . The controlling factor influencing

the statutory funding scheme is how a pregnant woman on medical assistance decides to exercise her reproductive choices.”); *State v. Planned Parenthood of the Great Nw.*, 436 P.3d 984, 1001 (Alaska 2019) (“The most appropriate comparison classes are therefore Medicaid-eligible women who seek funding for abortion and Medicaid-eligible women who seek funding for natal and prenatal care.”). And because the Restrictions single out abortion patients for differential treatment, they trigger strict scrutiny review.

**C. The State’s arguments that strict scrutiny review does not apply are meritless.**

The State does not argue the Restrictions satisfy strict scrutiny. Instead, the State argues the Restrictions should escape strict scrutiny review because they involve Medicaid funding. But *PPMT V* squarely rejected the argument that the Restrictions are “simple funding issues” that do not implicate the right to privacy. *PPMT V*, ¶¶ 22, (plurality opinion), 56 (Baker, J., specially concurring). The State asks this Court to reconsider that holding, but none of its arguments has merit.

*1. Separation-of-powers principles do not exempt the Restrictions from constitutional review.*

The State first invokes broad separation-of-powers principles to suggest that the judiciary cannot review state funding decisions.<sup>6</sup> But the Restrictions do not

---

<sup>6</sup> The State relies on a quotation from *Jeannette R.* that the Legislature “can pass its own Hyde amendment if it wishes.” Opening Br. at 11 (quoting *Jeannette R.*, 1995 Mont. Dist. LEXIS 795, at \*17). This dictum comes from a portion of the

merely regulate spending—they impose substantive barriers on Medicaid patients’ access to abortion. The undisputed record establishes that the Restrictions operate as limits on abortion access, not neutral funding decisions. Supp.App.F05, 07, 09–10, 12, 13 (SUMF ¶¶ 11–12, 21, 32, 36–41, 51, 54). The State did not dispute these facts below and points to no contrary record evidence now. This is fatal to its appeal.

Contrary to the State’s characterization, the district court did not commandeer the Legislature’s power of the purse by ordering it to fund abortions. Rather, it held that the State cannot condition existing Medicaid benefits in a way that infringes on constitutional rights. This is not an encroachment on legislative authority—it is the judiciary performing its constitutional role. If a statute conditioned access to Medicaid on race, this Court would apply strict scrutiny review. That the State funds Medicaid would not insulate the discrimination from review, or change the applicable level of scrutiny. The same is true here.

*2. The distinction between negative and positive rights is inapt.*

The State argues at length that the Montana Constitution creates only “negative” rights prohibiting governmental interference rather than “positive” rights requiring governmental funding, and that Providers seek to transform the right to

---

district court’s opinion holding that the administrative rule at issue violated the agency’s enabling statute. The opinion goes on to explain that the rule also violated the substantive guarantees of the Montana Constitution, meaning that even if the Legislature had passed a state equivalent of the Hyde Amendment, that bill would be unconstitutional.

privacy into a funding entitlement. The State pretends to scour the Montana Constitution for an entitlement to funding,<sup>7</sup> as though the absence of an express right to funding allows the State to administer State-funded programs in an unconstitutional manner.

Judicial review of funding restrictions is commonplace. *See, e.g., Columbia Falls Elementary Sch. Dist. No. 6 v. State*, 2005 MT 69, ¶ 17, 326 Mont. 304, 109 P.3d 257 (holding in a challenge to a school funding provision, that “(1) once the Legislature has acted, or ‘executed,’ a provision (2) that implicates individual constitutional rights, courts can determine whether that enactment fulfills the Legislature’s constitutional responsibility.”).

Moreover, whether the right to privacy “carr[ies] with it a funding entitlement,” Opening Br. at 27, is not the issue in this case. The Restrictions affirmatively impose barriers to care that violate the Montana Constitution’s fundamental right to privacy; they are targeted restrictions of a fundamental right, not neutral fiscal choices. With respect to Providers’ equal protection claim, the State may not discriminate against Montanans on Medicaid on the basis of their exercise of a fundamental right. Having created a comprehensive Medicaid program covering

---

<sup>7</sup> The State devotes a section of its brief to Article I, section 36, the right to abortion newly enshrined in the Montana Constitution after the passage of Constitutional Initiative No. 128 (“CI-128”). Providers have not brought a claim under this provision, neither party raised the issue below, and the district court did not pass on it.

virtually all medically necessary care, the State cannot single out abortion—and only abortion—for restrictions that apply to no other service.

3. *Harris v. McRae is also inapt.*

The State urges this Court to follow *McRae*, in which the U.S. Supreme Court held that the federal Hyde Amendment did not violate the federal constitutional right to abortion. But as the State acknowledges, *id.* at 28, *McRae* interpreted and applied the *federal* Constitution, not the Montana Constitution. It does not control this Court’s interpretation of the Montana Constitution, which this Court has repeatedly explained affords “significantly broader protection” of the right to privacy than the federal Constitution. *See, e.g., PPMT V*, ¶¶ 21 (plurality opinion) (quoting *Weems II*, ¶ 35), 56 (Baker J., specially concurring). Nor does it control DPHHS’s use of Montana state funds.

Were it not already clear from *PPMT V* that the Montana Constitution subjects the Restrictions to strict scrutiny, this Court has since relied on *PPMT V* to apply strict scrutiny to a restriction on gender-affirming care for youth that included a state Medicaid coverage ban. *See Cross ex rel. Cross v. State*, 2024 MT 303, ¶ 39, 419 Mont. 290, 560 P.3d 637 (“[W]e recently held that strict scrutiny applies to a statute disqualifying or restricting ‘otherwise eligible recipients . . . from certain public healthcare benefits based on their exercise of their fundamental right to privacy as guaranteed under the Montana Constitution.’” (quoting *PPMT V*, ¶ 23)). This Court

has rejected *McRae*'s analysis in the context of claims under the Montana Constitution, as have many other states. *See, e.g., Allegheny Reprod. Health Ctr.*, 309 A.3d at 934 (overruling a prior case that “blindly followed” *McRae*); *Planned Parenthood of the Great Nw.*, 436 P.3d at 1002 (relying on *McRae* dissent); *Right to Choose*, 450 A.2d at 933 (rejecting *McRae* and noting the relevant provision of the New Jersey Constitution contains “more expansive language than that of the United States Constitution”).<sup>8</sup>

The State also conflates Providers' privacy and equal protection claims, stating that the district court “tried to shoehorn in a privacy framing” but that “the relevant analysis falls under equal protection.” Opening Br. at 33. Not so. Providers brought separate privacy and equal protection claims, which must be analyzed separately, as this Court did in *PPMT V* and the district court did in its summary judgment order. As set forth above, the Restrictions are subject to strict scrutiny review for the independent reasons that they infringe on Providers' Medicaid patients' fundamental right to privacy and that they discriminate against those patients based on their exercise of a fundamental right.

---

<sup>8</sup> Puzzlingly, the State cites Florida as a state whose approach this Court should follow. The Florida Supreme Court has held that the Florida Constitution's right to privacy does not include a right to abortion, *Planned Parenthood of Sw. & Cent. Fla. v. State*, 384 So. 3d 67, 87 (Fla. 2024), and abortion is generally banned in Florida after six weeks of gestational age, Fla. Stat. Ann. § 390.0111(1). That state's jurisprudence on abortion has no relevance here.

#### **D. The Restrictions fail strict scrutiny review.**

To survive strict scrutiny review, the Restrictions must be narrowly tailored to address “a medically-acknowledged, *bona fide* health risk, clearly and convincingly demonstrated.” *Armstrong*, ¶ 62. The district court correctly held, based on the undisputed facts, that the Restrictions are not narrowly tailored to address a compelling interest. The State presented no evidence that any Restriction addresses a *bona fide* health risk. To the contrary, the undisputed evidence establishes that APCs provide abortions as safely and effectively as physicians; that the prior authorization requirement serves no medical purpose and causes harmful delays; and that the narrowed medical necessity definitions override medical judgment without medical justification. App.A10–11.

The State does not argue on appeal that the Restrictions satisfy strict scrutiny, nor does it identify any factual disputes. It has therefore waived any such argument. *See Schaubel*, 257 Mont. at 166, 848 P.2d at 490. This Court should affirm the district court’s conclusion that the Restrictions violate the rights to privacy and equal protection under the Montana Constitution because they do not satisfy strict scrutiny review.<sup>9</sup>

---

<sup>9</sup> The State’s justifications for the Restrictions are not sufficient even to satisfy rational basis review. *See Brewer v. Ski-Lift, Inc.*, 234 Mont. 109, 113, 762 P.2d 226, 229 (1988), *superseded by statute on other grounds* (“[I]f the statutory scheme cannot pass even the minimum rationality test, our inquiry ends.” (citation omitted)). The State contends the Restrictions “ensure the State’s Medicaid program maintains

### **E. Providers have standing.**

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